#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE No. 76,743

SEMINOLE COUNTY and CITY OF LAKE MARY,

Appellees.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION

Albert H. Stephens Pamela I. Smith Office of the General Counsel FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION Post Office Box 14042 St. Petersburg, Florida 33733 (813)-866-4588

and

Alan C. Sundberg
Sylvia H. Walbolt
Robert Pass
F. Townsend Hawkes
CARLTON, FIELDS, WARD, EMMANUEL,
SMITH & CUTLER, P. A.
Post Office Box 3239
Tampa, Florida 33601
(813)-223-7000

Attorneys for Appellant Florida Power Corporation

##

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, Florida Power Corporation, will be referred to in this brief as "FPC." Appellees, Seminole County and the City of Lake Mary, will be referred to respectively as "the County" and "the City."

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise noted.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Florida Power Corporation appeals from a Final Judgment granting Seminole County and City of Lake Mary a permanent, mandatory injunction upholding and enforcing their local zoning ordinances requiring FPC to underground, at its own cost, its overhead lines along Lake Mary Boulevard when that road is widened.

FPC challenged the facial constitutionality of these ordinances requiring free undergrounding. (R. 78-128). In turn, the County and City counterclaimed for declaratory judgment and injunctive relief. (R. 148-55; 173-216). On August 7, 1990, the trial court denied FPC's request for a temporary injunction and instead granted the County's and City's request for a temporary, mandatory injunction requiring FPC to comply with the ordinances. (R. 556-60). FPC was ordered either to remove its overhead facilities from the County and City rights-of-way or to begin plans to underground its lines within ninety (90) days of the order.

On September 5, 1990, after the parties agreed to submit the matter for final disposition on the record developed at the temporary injunction hearing, the trial court entered a Final Judgment, which was substantially similar to its prior order except that it granted a permanent, mandatory injunction requiring either the removal or the undergrounding of FPC's

utility lines by November 5, 1990. 1/ (R. 565-68; App. A). No bond was required by the Court to protect FPC in the event of a reversal of that mandatory injunction. FPC promptly filed its appeal.

On October 9, 1990, the Fifth District Court of Appeal bypassed its review and directly certified the case to this Court, finding "that a local government's efforts to require installation of underground utility lines at ratepayer expense is an issue of great public importance." (App. F). See Art. V, § 3(b)(5), Fla. Const.; Fla. R. App. P. 9.125. On November 5, 1990, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

FPC supplies electric service in more than thirty (30) counties and over one hundred (100) municipalities in Florida.

FPC has over 15,000 miles of overhead distribution lines within its service territory. The Florida Public Service Commission

[PSC] regulates FPC pursuant to Chapter 366, Florida Statutes.

FPC has been providing electric service to the County and City since approximately 1953. In 1973, FPC and the City entered into a Franchise Agreement which grants to FPC the unqualified use of public rights-of-way within the City for the purpose of supplying electric power, in return for fees paid by FPC to the

The trial court's order specifically provided that this deadline could be extended by the parties, and that has been done.

City.<sup>2/</sup> (Pl. Ex. 4). FPC's power lines have been located overhead along County and City rights-of-way at all times since their original installation. Overhead service is the standard form of distribution, and it provides "reasonably adequate" service as required by Section 366.03, Florida Statutes. (Tr. 84).

Nevertheless, on February 14, 1989, the County amended its
Land Development Code by enacting Ordinance No. 89-3 (Pl. Ex. 3),
which authorized the County to require the installation of
underground lines "as a condition on the issuance of a right-ofway utilization permit." On March 14, 1989, the County adopted
an ordinance (No. 89-5; Pl. Ex. 1), which further amended its
Land Development Code by creating the Lake Mary Boulevard
Designated Gateway Corridor. See §337.273, Fla. Stat. (1989).
The ordinance creating this transportation corridor directly
required that "all new or relocated" utility lines be installed
underground. Within a few days, the City enacted a virtually
identical ordinance. See City Ordinance No. 421 (Pl. Ex. 5).

On January 11, 1990, the City ordered the undergrounding of all relocated utilities in the corridor. The City directed FPC to convert its overhead electric lines to underground installation along Lake Mary Boulevard and further directed that the cost of all 21,000 feet of undergrounding along the roadway

<sup>2/</sup> The County is also bound by this Franchise Agreement because City ordinances control over County ordinances within the municipal boundaries and because the City retains proprietary control over rights-of-way within its corporate boundaries.

be borne fully by FPC. <u>See</u> City Emergency Ordinance No. 487 (Pl. Ex. 6), superseded on February 1, 1990, by City Ordinance No. 490 (Pl. Ex. 7).

FPC protested the enactment of these ordinances, which required FPC to both relocate and convert its existing overhead utility system along this portion of Lake Mary Boulevard to a materially different and vastly more expensive underground utility system. There was no dispute that the proposed road widening could be physically accommodated with a relocation of the overhead lines to the new right-of-way. (Tr. 220). On the other hand, installation of an underground system would require use of a completely new system of underground cables, conduits, transformers and other equipment. (Tr. 72; Def. Ex. 9 at 46-50, 57, 63, 71).

The cost differential between relocating the overhead lines within the new right-of-way and converting to an underground system would be approximately \$1.25 million. (Tr. 56). That differential, calculated in accordance with the rules of the PSC for residential undergrounding of electric lines (Pl. Ex. 23), would compensate FPC only for the difference in the direct cost of the conversion to undergrounding over the cost of relocating the overhead system, with no "return" to FPC.

None of the ordinances provided for payment of the cost of such a conversion by those requiring it. The City's ordinances affirmatively state that FPC must bear the entire undergrounding cost. The County's ordinances are silent as to who will pay for

the extra costs, but the County has unequivocally declared that it will not pay them. (Pl. Ex. 12, 21, 27).

These ordinances were adopted over the objections of FPC, following its discussions with the County and City concerning who would pay for the cost of this undergrounding. (Pl. Ex. 13, 25, 27). The County and City were advised by FPC that it was fully prepared to carry out the undergrounding, provided that the County and/or City, the entities requiring the undergrounding, would compensate FPC for the excess cost. (Id.; Pl. Ex. 29; Def. Ex. 7 at 25-28). Alternatively, FPC was willing to relocate its lines overhead within the new right-of-way, at its own expense. FPC was not willing to convert to underground facilities at its expense, however, and it expressly put the County and City on notice of its legal position and its intent to seek a judicial determination of the issue if it could not be resolved among the parties. (Id; Tr. 138, 141).

When the parties were unable to reach any agreement as to who should pay for the increased cost of installing an underground system along this road corridor, FPC filed suit for declaratory and injunctive relief, prompting counterclaims by the County and City. At trial, FPC asserted, among other things, that the PSC's exclusive, statewide jurisdiction over utility regulation preempted this local utility regulation. The PSC has not authorized FPC, either by tariff or rule, to provide free underground service to any person or locality. (Pl. Ex. 33). Rather, the general policy of the PSC has been, for at least a

decade, to impose the excess cost of undergrounding on the "cost causer." FPC also relied on its contractual rights under its existing Franchise Agreement, asserting that they could not be retroactively impaired by these ordinances.

The trial court rejected, without explanation, FPC's numerous constitutional challenges, and held that Section 337.403(1), Florida Statutes (1989), which permits a local government to require a utility to remove or relocate its lines when necessary for the expansion of a road, also authorizes the requirement of conversion to underground lines at the utility's The trial court specifically directed FPC to bear the entire cost of undergrounding if it continues to use the rightsof-way, and ordered that none of those costs could be placed on the County's and City's taxpayers. (Final Judgment at 3; R. 567; App. A). There is no feasible way for FPC to carry out its statutory obligation to provide electric service to its customers in Seminole County without locating its electric lines within those rights-of-way, and thus it has no alternative under that injunction but to install these lines underground. (Tr. 82-84, 99).

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case involves the question of whether the County and City may lawfully require FPC to incur substantial costs to convert its existing overhead distribution system along Lake Mary Boulevard to an underground system. It is critical to recognize, however, that the issue of free undergrounding for local governments goes far beyond this one road and this one utility and instead seriously affects all ratepayers and electric utilities in the State. Indeed, the potentially devastating effects of local governments' attempts to impose the costs of underground lines on utilities and their ratepayers would create chaos for the public utilities of this State.

It has taken the State's electric utilities approximately one hundred years to construct the electric distribution system that now exists in Florida, the vast majority of which is constructed overhead. Converting the existing overhead system to underground may be an aesthetically appealing objective to local governments, but the cost of such conversion throughout the State would approach thirty billion dollars (\$30,000,000,000.00). That amount far exceeds the existing aggregate rate bases of the investor-owned electric utilities in the State, and yet would not make a single kilowatt of additional electricity available for consumption in the State.

The statewide issue of whether existing overhead lines should be converted to underground and, if so, who should pay for the billions of dollars of added costs, plainly should not be

determined on a piecemeal basis at a local level. Rather, there is an overriding public need for consistent regulation on this critical issue throughout the State. To conclude that the Florida Legislature intended for local governments to have the unbridled authority to cause electric utilities to incur such enormous increases in their rate bases -- based on the political decisions of individual localities -- flies in the face of the basic concept of statewide utility regulation.

Significantly, other state supreme courts have recognized this fundamental point and have squarely held that local governments cannot mandate such undergrounding because jurisdiction rests instead in the statewide regulatory agency. Contrary to the reasoned decisions of those courts, the trial court's order allows each local government within this State to directly regulate underground service and rates of electric utilities on a local level and thereby supplant the PSC's exclusive jurisdiction to uniformly regulate utilities' service and facilities on a statewide basis.

Moreover, the trial court's order confers greater powers on local governments than have been provided to them by the Florida Legislature. Local governments ultimately have only those powers that have been granted to them by the Legislature. Yet the Legislature has never granted local governments the power to require a public utility such as FPC to install a new, underground system for their benefit but at no charge to them.

The County and City assert -- and the trial court found -- such authority pursuant to Section 337.403(1) Florida Statutes. But that statute does nothing more than empower counties and cities to require a utility to remove or relocate existing electric facilities in connection with road construction. It does not grant the additional and greater authority to require that the utility convert its distribution system to one that is materially different -- that is, to convert its existing overhead system to an underground system. Rather, this statute simply implements the historic practice of directing utilities to move existing electric facilities to another location that physically accommodates the widened road.

The Legislature plainly knows how to grant the power to require the conversion of overhead facilities to underground facilities when they are being "removed or relocated" because it explicitly granted that very power to the PSC. In Section 366.04(7)(a), Florida Statutes (1989), the Legislature directed the PSC to address the precise issue of determining the feasibility, on a uniform, statewide basis, of requiring "the conversion" of electric facilities to underground "when such facilities are replaced or relocated." The County's and City's requirement that FPC convert the existing overhead system to an underground system must yield to that specific legislative mandate for centralized PSC regulation of utility undergrounding.

Indeed, the County's and City's effort to legislate a materially different and free form of electric service also

conflicts with the utility "antipreference" law, Section 366.03, Florida Statutes. That provision expressly prohibits FPC from providing preferential service to any "person or locality." Because a utility normally provides service by overhead distribution lines, enhanced underground facilities would be preferential to a locality if not paid for by the locality. The ordinances mandating this specific type of utility facilities for this particular locality impermissibly conflict with this statute.

Finally, these ordinances impair FPC's Franchise Agreement with the City, which is, by law, equally binding on the County. That Franchise Agreement grants to FPC an <u>unconditional</u> right to use all "public thoroughfares" within the City "as they now exist or may hereafter be constructed . . . or extended," and it was both breached and unconstitutionally impaired by the ordinances requiring free undergrounding.

For all these reasons, it is clear that the County and City cannot require FPC to convert its overhead facilities to underground facilities without charge. The trial court's mandatory injunction directing FPC to do so should be reversed, and the local ordinances requiring free undergrounding should be held invalid and unenforceable.

#### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

#### Introduction

Before turning to specific legal arguments, it is important to consider the critical principle at stake in this appeal.

Simply put, the County's and City's claims are in fundamental collision with the principle of centralized, statewide regulation of the rates and service of public utilities that has long formed a part of the basic law of this and other states.

If this County and this City hold, as they claim, the power to dictate that a public utility will provide a form of electric service (underground) which is far more expensive than the indisputably adequate form of service historically provided statewide (overhead), then the counties and cities of this State cumulatively hold the power to alter entirely the form of electric service provided statewide, without regard for what the PSC would direct as a matter of prudent, cost-effective utility regulation. Moreover, if the County and City possess, as they assert, the power to dictate who may not be charged for the costs of conversion from overhead to underground facilities, then the counties and cities of this State cumulatively hold the power to dramatically affect the options the PSC may exercise in setting utility rates.

The cost of converting overhead to underground distribution can be as much as \$1 million per mile. FPC alone has more than 15 thousand miles of such overhead lines in place in its 32

county and 100 city service area. The aggregate cost of converting all of those lines to underground would exceed \$2.5 billion, an amount approximating FPC's total rate base. The cost of converting all the overhead lines of all the investor-owned public utilities would approach \$30 billion, more than the combined rate bases of all the public utilities in this State. (Tr. 85)

The exercise of that power by local governments would result in rate increases of an enormous magnitude, over which the PSC would have virtually no control. Indeed, the PSC would be reduced to simply allowing the gigantic costs mandated by counties and cities to be passed on to utility ratepayers, and the PSC would have lost any meaningful authority to regulate this vital aspect of electric utility service. Instead, local governments would sit as hundreds of mini-PSCs dictating -- based on their own special interests and without consideration of the prudence of such actions from a regulatory or utility standpoint -- the amount of capital expenditures to be undertaken by utilities, when those expenditures would be incurred, and, to a large degree, who would bear the onus of the exorbitant rates occasioned by those expenditures.

The chaos that would result for public utilities and their ratepayers is manifest. See, e.g., Potomac Elec. Power Co. v. Montgomery County, 80 Md. App. 107, 560 A.2d 50, 54 (1989), aff'd, 319 Md. 511, 573 A.2d 821 (1990) ("To permit counties to regulate utilities and supersede the rulings of the PSC would be

to allow chaos to reign throughout the State."). Recognizing this undeniable fact and the concomitant need for utility regulation on a <u>uniform</u>, statewide basis, unfettered by the parochial interests of individual localities, courts -- including the highest courts of four states -- have again and again rejected the local government's attempt to mandate underground facilities at the utility's own cost.

The Pennsylvania Supreme Court spoke directly to this concern in <u>Duquesne Light Co. v. Upper St. Clair Tp.</u>, 377 Pa. 323, 105 A.2d 287, 293 (1954). As that Court emphasized:

Local authorities not only are ill-equipped to comprehend the needs of the public beyond their jurisdiction, but, and equally important, those authorities, if they had the power to regulate, necessarily would exercise that power with an eye toward the local situation and not with the best interests of the public at large as the point of reference.

Accord Willits v. Pennsylvania Pub. Util. Comm'n, 183 Pa. Super. 62, 128 A.2d 105 (1956) (town's attempt to require undergrounding of electric lines was invalid as issue rests with Public Utility Commission).

The need for uniform, statewide treatment of electric service likewise convinced the Missouri Supreme Court that a city's ordinance requiring underground lines was preempted by Missouri's laws establishing a Public Service Commission to oversee utilities. In <u>Union Elec. Co. v. City of Crestwood</u>, 499 S.W.2d 480 (Mo. 1973), the utility had entered a franchise with the city, which later sought unilaterally to impose the

underground line requirement. The Missouri Supreme Court concluded that the ordinance was invalid since it impermissibly invaded an area regulated on a statewide basis by the Missouri Public Service Commission:

If [the City] had the right by its ordinance to specify how [the utility] should design and install its transmission lines or to require it to spend this substantially greater sum in constructing said lines, then other municipalities would have like authority . . . . If 100 such municipalities each had the right to impose its own requirements with respect to installation of transmission facilities, a hodgepodge of methods of construction could result and costs and resulting capital requirements could mushroom. a result, the supervision and control by the Public Service Commission with respect to the company, its facilities, its method of operation, its service, its indebtedness, its investment, and its rates which the General Assembly obviously contemplated would be nullified.

Id. at 483. The New Hampshire Supreme Court has held to precisely the same effect. Public Serv. Co. v. Town of Hampton, 120 N.H. 68, 411 A.2d 164 (1980) (legislature had preempted town's ability to require underground location of electric lines as Public Utilities Commission had been given comprehensive authority to regulate this area).

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