IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FLORIDA POWER CORPORATION,

Appellant,

vs.

SEMINOLE COUNTY and CITY OF LAKE MARY

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE CITY OF LAKE MARY

> DAVISSON F. DUNLAP, JR., of Pennington, Wilkinson, Dunlap, Bateman & Camp, P.A. Florida Bar No. 0136730 Post Office Box 13527 Tallahassee, Florida 32317-3527 (904) 224-2677

and

NED N. JULIAN, JR., of Stenstrom, McIntosh, Julian, Colbert, Whigham & Simmons, P.A. Florida Bar No. 104736 Sun Bank Building, Suite 22 Post Office Box 1330 Sanford, Florida 32772 (407) 322-2171

ATTORNEYS FOR CITY OF LAKE MARY

CLERK, By_ **Deputy Clerk**

-P.A. 2-4-91

CASE NO. 76,743

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

> Local governmental entities have jurisdiction and control over public roads and are authorized to prescribe and enforce reasonable rules or regulations with reference to placing and maintaining along, across or on any roadway under their respected jurisdictions any electrical transmission, telephone or telegraph <u>line</u>, pole line; . . <u>or other</u> <u>structures</u> hereinafter referred to as the utility." (emphasis added).

This statute specifically authorizes the City to adopt any reasonable restriction on the placement of electrical distribution lines on any roadway which lies within their jurisdiction. Clearly, the local electrical distribution line running along Lake Mary Boulevard falls squarely within this provision.

In addition to Section 366.041, Florida Statutes, the legislature has further addressed the question of the relocation of utility lines along roadways that are being widened and has further strengthened the city's hand. Section 337.403, Florida Statutes, entitled "Relocation of Utility Lines Expense," subsection 1, states in part that:

> Any utility heretofore, hereafter placed upon, under, over or along any public road that is found by the authority to be unreasonably interfering <u>in any way</u> with the <u>convenient</u>, safe or continuous use or <u>maintenance</u> <u>improvement</u>, <u>extension</u> or <u>expansion</u>, or such public roads shall upon 30 days written notice to the utility or its agent or by the authority, be removed or relocated by such

utility at its own expense (emphasis added).

FPC comes within the definition of the term "any utility." Electric utility lines located along Lake Mary Boulevard are included within the terms of the statute. The City has expressed its opinion that above-ground utility lines will interfere with what it feels is the convenient use of its right-of-way, and has instructed FPC to "relocate" them to an underground location. Contrary to FPC's protestations to the contrary, underground is a location.

The City has never attempted to dictate to FPC the methods by which FPC will provide its electrical service. The City fully anticipates that regardless of whether the location of the lines is above the surface of the ground or below ground level, the quality of service, the amount of voltage, and all other aspects of the service will be essentially equal. The methods for providing that service are solely at the discretion of Florida Power Corporation.

Further support of the City's position is also found in several companion statutes. Section 337.403, Florida Statutes, is just one of four related sections of Chapter 337 which sets forth the legislative mandate and scheme for the use of the various road rights-of-way of the State of Florida and is a part of the "Florida Transportation Code." Section 334.035 states the purpose of the Code, which is to establish the responsibilities of the state, counties and municipalities for the planning and development of the state's transportation system, including roads, and that the code is necessary for the protection of the public safety and general welfare.

The four related sections pertinent to this dispute are found at Section 337.401 through Section 337.404, Florida Statutes. Section 337.401 vests jurisdiction and control of public roads in the Department of Transportation and local governmental entities and authorizes them to enact and enforce reasonable rules or regulations with regard to the placing and maintaining of electric power distribution lines, among others, and further, that no electric power distribution lines shall be installed, located or relocated without permission of the authority.

Most importantly, Section 337.404 vests jurisdiction for the resolution of disputes between local governmental authorities and utilities over the reasonableness of the order of relocation or removal in the circuit court of the county in which the relocation took place, by judicial review through certiorari.

Clearly Section 337.401 through Section 337.404, Florida Statutes, are legislative pronouncements specific to the use of local government road rights-of-way by public utilities. To construe the grant of legislative authority, to promulgate and enforce reasonable rules for the use of public road rights-of-way to mean reasonable rules, except rules relating to the manner in which the utilities are placed in the rights-of-way, would clearly frustrate the stated intention of the legislature.

In suggesting that Section 366.03, Florida Statutes stands for the proposition that Florida Power cannot legally be required to

relocate its distribution line in Lake Mary Boulevard underground while maintaining overhead lines in other areas, misconstrues the meaning of the word service. To understand the regulatory use of that word, one must look to the rules of the PSC which defines service as the supply of electricity to customers and which requires that each utility shall make all reasonable efforts to prevent interruption of service, and where interruption occurs, to make very effort to restore it as quickly as possible. Fla. Adm. Code Rule 25-6.003 and 25-6.044. The term service refers to the electrical current itself, not the means by which it is delivered as is made clear in rule 25-6.0438, which permits service to be interrupted by contract with the customer.

Section 366.03 simply requires that Florida electric utilities must deliver electric current to each customer who wants it on the same basis that it delivers current to others similarly situated, and at the same rate. That statute does not impact on whether the lines that deliver that current are underground or overhead, that is a matter for decision by local government.

Yes, the authority of the PSC is preeminent, but only within the confines of statutes and organic law. The legislature has exempted out of that authority the power to direct how and when power companies will place their lines in public rights-of-way. Sections 337.403 and 366.11, Florida Statutes. Section 366.11 means exactly what it says and is clearly recognized by the Commission in rule 26-6.061(3) which provides:

(3) If the utility is required by governmental or other valid authority to

install underground distribution, and abandon overhead distribution . . .

Finally, by its own terms Section 366, Florida Statutes does not apply to the question of the control by municipalities over their road rights-of-way. Section 366.11 entitled "Certain Exemptions" states that nothing in the statute shall restrict the police power of municipalities over the streets, highways and public places. Not only does the language of 366.04(7) on its face fail to indicate that any pre-emption has been intended by the legislature, but also Section 366.11, Florida Statutes makes it clear that there is no attempt to restrict the power of cities and counties over their streets and highways and public places.

The courts of this state have repeatedly recognized that municipalities have broad authority to legislate with regard to land use including the authority to discontinue an existing use; legislate solely for aesthetic purpose; and legislate in the general exercise of police power for the protection of public health, safety and general welfare. This is true even when the legislative act requires the subordination of a utility's franchise rights to the superior right of the public, as long as that power is exercised reasonably and in the public interest. <u>Standard Oil</u> <u>Co. v. City of Tallahassee</u>, 183 F.2d 410 (5th Cir. 1950). <u>City of</u> <u>Lake Wales v. Lamar Advertising Association of Lakeland, Florida</u>, 414 So.2d 1030 (Fla. 1982). <u>Metropolitan Dade County Fair Housing</u> and Employment Appeals Board v. Sunrise Village Mobile Home Park, <u>Inc.</u>, 511 So.2d 962, 965 (Fla. 1987).

Other States Support the Right of the City of Lake Mary to Require the Placement of Local Distribution Lines Underground.

At page 17 of its brief, FPC suggests that local government cannot prevent a public utility from carrying out its public charge by prohibiting its use of a public right-of-way. It cites to the case of the City of Jacksonville v. Ortega Utility Co., 531 So.2d 370 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988). In the City of Jacksonville, the city would not grant a permit to a utility providing water service in order for it to upgrade its service and comply with fire codes. The court found that the city gave no legitimate basis for the denial and concluded that the utility had a right, as well as a duty to provide adequate fire protection. Unlike the City of Jacksonville case, the City of Lake Mary is not depriving its citizens of service nor endangering them. On the contrary, by widening Lake Mary Boulevard and requiring the underground of utility lines for convenience, safety, and aesthetics, the City is insuring the adequate service for all of its citizens. It is in no way attempting to prohibit FPC from the use of a right-of-way or in providing its electrical service to its customers.

The argument that the City is requiring that FPC install a completely new and different utility system is simply not true. FPC installs underground distribution lines all the time. Their own expert witness on cross-examination admitted that there was nothing unique or different about the underground installation they had planned for the distribution line running along Lake Mary

26

Α.

Boulevard. It is the same construction means and techniques they have utilized for similar underground installations.

Furthermore, at page 19 of the brief, FPC implies that Section 337.403, Florida Statutes, says that remove or relocated does not encompass placing its electrical power lines underground. "Underground" is a location just as above ground is a location. The only difference between an above ground installation and a below ground installation is construction techniques. Both distribution systems will serve essentially the same purpose. Both will have the same line capacity, and both will distribute electrical power locally to retail customers.

At page 20 of its brief, FPC seizes on the word "conversion" contained in Florida Statute 366.04(7)(a). It suggests that this word conversion is indication of legislative intent to describe the process of changing an overhead distribution line to an underground distribution line. It then argues from that point that since other statutes deal with "removal and relocation," the legislature by implication did not mean "conversion" from overhead to underground distribution. FPC then states that by the use of this term "conversion," the legislature demonstrated that it knows how to grant power when it intends to do so.

If the legislature knows how to grant power and the City agrees with the proposition that it does, then why did it not simply grant exclusive jurisdiction to the PSC in 366.04(7)(a)? It would have been simple for the legislature to say "the PSC has exclusive authority throughout the State of Florida to determine

all questions regarding the placing of distribution lines underground." The legislature could have given the PSC a comprehensive statutory scheme. It could have prescribed a method for local governments to file with the PSC an action to require that electrical distribution lines be placed underground. The legislature could have provided standards and criteria against which a petition to require the installation of underground lines could be judged. The legislature did none of those things in Florida Statute, Section 366.04(7)(a).

Under the current legislative scheme, it is certainly within the PSC's power and authority to make a determination of costeffectiveness and to order lines to be placed underground where feasible. The fact that local governments also have the power and rights-of-way authority determine within their that to distribution lines will be placed underground, in no way conflicts with the authority of the PSC. The only potential way in which the power of the City and the PSC could conflict, would be if the PSC ordered a distribution line placed underground and the City attempted to block that decision. Clearly if the PSC acts and orders a distribution line placed underground under Section 366.04(7)(a)(b), Florida Statutes, then local city government would be powerless to override that decision.

In subsection (b) on page 23 of its brief, FPC has a section entitled "Other States have Refused to Allow Local Governments to Require Undergrounding." PSC argues that other states have rejected the concept that local governments can force an electric

utility to place its lines underground through zoning or land use The first case cited by FPC is a case of Vandehei ordinances. Developers v. Public Service Commission of Wyoming, 790 P.2d 1282 As previously discussed, this case involves (Wyo. 1990). transmission lines, not local distribution lines. The City agrees has no power and authority over the placing of it that transmission lines which carry electrical power throughout the State of Florida, nor has it attempted at any time to exercise any control over the two transmission lines which cross Lake Mary Furthermore, the Vandehei Developers case revealed Boulevard. that under Wyoming law, the Public Service Commission was granted all police powers relating to public utilities and that none of those powers were reserved for municipalities. Vandehei at 286. This is completely different from the legislative scheme in Florida which specifically grants police power to municipalities to control utilities placed in local rights-of-way. The next case cited by FPC is Union Electric Co. v. City of Crestwood, 499 S.W.2d 480 (Mo. 1973). A review of that case revealed that the statute was invalid because the ordinance was over broad. The ordinance sought to eliminate rights and to require all subsequent construction, even of high voltage lines carrying power throughout the city on private rights-of-way for use by other communities, to be placed underground. Again, the Union Electric case involved the question of transmission lines, instead of local distribution Clearly this case has no application to the facts before lines. the Court. At page 25, FPC also suggests that the case of Public

Service Co. v. Town of Hampton, 120 N.H. 68, 411 A.2d 164 (1980) is applicable. This case centered around the construction of the Seabrook Nuclear Power Plant. The court ruled against the town's attempts to require undergrounding of utility lines at this plant because of the environmental impact undergrounding of utility lines would have, and because there was a special grant to the Public Utility Commission to completely oversee the project. Again, this case and its facts have no application to the matter at hand.

The next case cited by FPC was Cincinnati & Suburban Bell Telephone Company v. City of Cincinnati, 215 N.E.2d 631 (Ohio 1964). This case is cited for the proposition that a city could not force a telephone company to provide free undergrounding under its local powers. A review of the case shows that whether or not the city paid for the undergrounding was not the issue at all. The statutes in Ohio specifically provided that public utilities may construct and maintain lines along the highways of a municipality, which had been interpreted as meaning above ground. State law also provided that the telephone company could not place its wires underground without a municipality's consent, and likewise, a municipality could not require a utility to place its lines underground without the consent of the utility. The court held that the local ordinance requiring undergrounding of telephone lines conflicted with the state statute which stated that the municipality could not require it without the utility's consent. This statutory scheme in Ohio is totally different and

completely divorced, and bears no relationship to the statutory scheme in Florida. None of these various cases involved local distribution lines or statutory schemes similar to that of Florida.

Point Two

Chapter 366.04 Makes no Attempt to Pre-empt Local Governmental Authority, Lacks any Scheme of Regulation, and does not Conflict with Local Authority.

The authority of the City of Lake Mary to determine the placement of utility lines within its road rights-of-way has not been pre-empted by Section 366, Florida Statutes, or usurped by the PSC.

In this section of its brief, FPC argues that the PSC's jurisdiction over public utilities is exclusive in that it also has jurisdiction over underground service which has been directly conferred to it. While it is true that the PSC has been granted regulatory authority over FPC and similar investor-owned utilities, the PSC's regulatory authority is not without limitation.

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